THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court Of Common Pleas

J. CORDELL MADDOX JR., CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE
CASE NO: 2021-CP-37-00560

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2021-001552

Dorothy Pierce, Appellant,
V.
Jared Adam Pierce, Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JUL 11 2022

SC Court of Appeals

JULY 08, 2022.

Robert L. Gailliard,
6650 Rivera Avenue, North Charleston,
SC. 29406
(843-925-7521)
Attorney for Appellant

Richard Hunt McDuff,
119B Professional Park Drive, #8,
Seneca, SC 29678.
(864-882-2466)
Attorney for Respondent.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE JUDGE FAIL TO CORRECTLY APPLY THE DAUBERT STANDARD FOR EXPERT TESTIMONY?
2. DID THE JUDGE'S CONDUCT AMOUNT TO JUDICIAL MISCONDUCT?
3. DID THE JUDGES' CONDUCT VIOLATE THE APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS?
4. DID THE JUDGE ERR IN FINDING THE APPELLANT LIABLE FOR FRAUD UPON THE COURT AND UNFAIRLY REMOVED THE APPELLANT AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE?
5. DID THE PROBATE COURT JUDGE HAVE THE PROPER QUALIFICATION TO MAKE JUDGMENT ON THE APPELLANT'S CASE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns the validity of a will made by the Deceased, Doyle Elton Pierce. Accordingly, on August 18, 2021, a judgment in favor of the Respondent entitled "ORDER ON MOTION TO DETERMINE VALIDITY OF WILL" was signed by the Oconee Probate Court in this case. The Appellant subsequently filed a Motion for a New Trial on August 23, 2021. Thereafter, the Appellant filed an Amended Motion for a New Trial in lieu of the already filed Motion for New Trial. On or about October 1, 2021, the Court conducted a hearing for the Appellant's Motion for New Trial. Consequently, the Court denied the said Motion. The Appellant appealed the probate court order to the Oconee County Circuit Court. The Circuit Court Denied the appeal. The Appellant Appeals the said Order in the Court of Appeals.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review applicable to cases originating in the probate court is controlled by whether the underlying cause of action is at law or in equity. *Howard v. Mutz*, 315 S.C. 356, 361-62, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257-58 (1993). Appellant states that this is an action at law. *NationsBank of S.C. v. Greenwood*, 321 S.C. 386, 392, 468 S.E.2d 658, 662 (Ct. App. 1996) (holding an action to construe a will is an action at law). If a proceeding in the probate court is in the nature of an action at law, review by this court extends merely to the correction of legal errors. *Townes Assocs. Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976), abrogated on other grounds by, *In re Estate of Kay*, 423 S.C. 476, 816 S.E.2d 542 (2018).

FACTS

Appellant met the deceased Doyle Elton Pierce in November 2017, when she was looking for a house to rent within Upstate South Carolina. Craigslist was the only reliable platform at the time. Appellant reached out to Doyle E Pierce who had listed for rent, a room in his 3-bedroom brick house in the small city of Seneca, Oconee County, SC. However, upon house inspection, the appellant realized the deceased's house needed proper cleaning before she would fully settle down. It took Appellant more than fifteen days to clean the house. During the clean-up, the deceased helped the Appellant whenever he could. Two weeks later, the Deceased told the Appellant that he would have looked a thousand years and never found a woman like her. He asked Appellant to marry him. The two got married in February 2018.

The decedent's children were estranged from their father. Jared Adam Pierce, the respondent chased his father away from his house when the decedent and the appellant visited him in early 2018.

The Deceased's second "son", Greg Alan Pierce never talked to his "father" for over 10 years. The deceased on the other hand never wanted anything to do with his "son". To Doyle Elton Pierce, his "son", Greg Alan Pierce was dead. Greg Pierce showed up in April 2020 when the Easter storm hit Seneca and destroyed almost everything the deceased had worked for his entire life, three months before the Deceased passed away.

On or about July 07, 2020, the Deceased executed the last will in compliance with SC Code § 62-2-502 (2017). Notably, the will was in writing and was signed by at least two disinterested individuals, each of whom witnessed either the signing or the testator's acknowledgment of the signature or the will. *(ROA, Page. 34)*

Three months later, the decedent died at Prisma hospital, Oconee County on September 14, 2020, at the age of 74 years, 3 months, & 29 days.

On or about September 23, 2020, the Appellant was legally appointed Personal Representative of the Estate of Doyle Elton Pierce. *(ROA, Page: 19)*

The Respondent contested the will of the Deceased dated July 7, 2020, with the Probate Court. He relied on expert testimony that is time-barred and failed the Daubert test.

On or about November 05, 2020, the Respondent's Attorney Rick McDuff reported an incident case to the Oconee County Sheriff's Department on the account of counterfeiting/forgery. The sheriff's department investigated the Will and Appellant thoroughly and closed the investigation, after finding NO WRONGDOING on the part of the Appellant.

On or about August 2, 2021, the Probate Court ruled to set aside the will.

On November 03, 2021, the appellant's appeal to the circuit court of Oconee County was heard before Judge Maddox Cordell who did not allow the appellant to properly present the appeal during the hearing. He was already outright biased.

On December 29, 2021, Judge Maddox affirmed the ruling of the Oconee County Probate court.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE JUDGE FAILED TO CORRECTLY APPLY THE DAUBERT STANDARD FOR EXPERT TESTIMONY.

Under The Daubert Standard for Admissibility of Scientific Evidence. The first decision judges must determine, as gatekeepers of the law, is whether a witness is sufficiently qualified by "knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education" to give expert testimony. Once a judge has decided a witness is qualified to serve as an expert, Daubert requires the judge to make an independent assessment to "ensure that all scientific testimony or evidence admitted is not only relevant but reliable.

The U.S. Supreme Court in *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993) set out the Daubert standard to assess whether an expert witness's scientific testimony is based on scientifically valid reasoning that can properly be applied to the facts at issue. Under the Daubert standard, the factors that may be considered in determining whether the methodology is valid are: (1) whether the theory or technique in question can be verified, refuted, and tested, (2) whether the evidence is valid and reliable, (3) whether it has been subjected to peer review and publication; (4) whether the existence and maintenance of standards controlling its operation are held to standards within the field; and, (5) whether it has attracted widespread acceptance within a relevant scientific community.

The Federal Rules of Evidence 702 is the crux of Article VII, as it guides the court's analysis in determining the admissibility of expert testimony. Rule 702 of the Federal Rules of Evidence makes no distinction between "scientific knowledge" and "technical knowledge" or "other specialized knowledge." Under Federal Rule 702, persons that are qualified as experts based on knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education are permitted to offer expert opinion

testimony if the following conditions have been met:

1. The expert's scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will help the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in an issue.
2. The testimony is based on sufficient facts or data.
3. The testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods; and
4. The expert has reliably applied the principles and methods to the facts of the case

It follows; that the federal courts are all governed by the Daubert standard. Besides, the proponent of an expert bears the burden of demonstrating that the expert's testimony would satisfy the Daubert standard. *Lewis v CITGO Petroleum Corp.*, 561 F3d 698 (7th Cir 2009), citing *Bourjally v US*, 483 US 171, 175-76 (1987).

In the instant case, on whether the theory or technique in question can be verified, refuted, and tested. The Answer is NO. The expert evidence is not reliable, verifiable, refutable, or testable. According to the vague report of the Respondent's handwriting expert, both the report and the evidence do not show the type of document purportedly signed by the deceased, does not show the contents of the document, the actual date it was purportedly signed, or the purpose of the documents in question. The purported signature standards cannot be verified or authenticated to have been signed by Doyle Elton Pierce. To be specific, 14 purported signatures were copied and pasted on one single piece of paper with an impossible way of tracing or authenticating the documents from which the purported signatures were extracted. It should be noted that 4 of the 14 signatures appear to have been extracted from documents typed by the same person according to Doyle E. Pierce's naming and font size. (*ROA, Page: 275*)

On whether the evidence is valid and reliable. The answer is NO. Chiefly, the Respondent's handwriting expert used outdated signatures from 1971 (49 years before the Will

was signed) to 2008, (12 years before the will was signed), which fail the test of “within the proximity” of execution. The evidence is against the basic rules and guidelines of modern document examination that require that the signature samples execution date be within the proximity of the execution of the questioned document. The expert evidence is therefore not relevant, valid, or reliable. The expert presented the probate court with evidence and testimonies based on irrelevant and insignificant signature samples with notes of dates too old to be used to compare a person’s signature. To put this into perspective, the signatures used from 1971, 1972, 1974, 1975, 1979, 1991, 1992, 1994, 2004, and 2008, 2016, are far outside of the range of “within the proximity”

On whether the method corresponds to published peer review, is held to standards within the field, or is generally accepted in the scientific community. The answer is NO. The evidence relied upon by the Respondent would not gain general acceptance in the relevant scientific community because it was time-barred. All published document examiners recommend that the best standards are those that most closely emulate the timeframe, circumstances, materials, and content of the questioned document. Therefore, the collected standards should be executed close in time to the questioned document. This is especially critical in cases involving illness, death, accident, mental imbalance, substance abuse, or anything likely to cause a dramatic change in the subject's handwriting. Investigators **MUST** find out everything possible about the circumstances under which the questioned document was allegedly prepared. Was the subject lying sick in bed, standing at a counter, holding a clipboard in his or her lap? Investigators are required to obtain standards written under similar conditions. In this instant case, the decedent was 74 years old and signed the last will on the trunk of the car. *(ROA, Pages: 278, 279, 291, 302, 306, 307, 312)*

Furthermore, it was the court's responsibility to independently consider all the facts presented by the expert, the court ignored important facts as per the testimony of the expert witness, Mr. John Jamieson that could not make any conclusions as to whether the initials on pages one through nine of the last will of the Decedent, dated July 07, 2020, was that of the deceased or not.

In the instant action, the Trial Judge erroneously admitted and relied on fraudulent, irrelevant, insignificant, unreliable, untestable, and unverifiable expert evidence, which failed the Daubert test. *(ROA, Page: 142)*

II. THE JUDGE'S CONDUCT AMOUNTED TO JUDICIAL MISCONDUCT.

Under S.C. App. Ct. R. 7, a Judge is said to have committed misconduct and is therefore subject to discipline if the Judge: failed to uphold the integrity of the judiciary; fails to participate in establishing, maintaining, and enforcing high standards of conduct, and personally observing those standards; fails to avoid impropriety and the appearance of impropriety; fails to act at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in the judiciary; allows his relationships with others to influence the judge's judicial conduct or judgment; fails to perform the duties of the judicial office impartially; fails to be dignified and courteous to those with whom the judge deals in an official capacity and requiring similar conduct of persons subject to the judge's discretion and control, and fails to perform his judicial duties without bias or prejudice and by failing to cooperate with other judges and court officials in the administration of court business. South Carolina case law requires " a factual finding of judicial misconduct to be supported by clear and convincing evidence." *In re Gravely*, ___ S.C. ___, 467 S.E.2d 924 (1996).

The trial Judge constantly engaged in improper ex-parte communication with the Respondent. During the probate hearing on August 02, 2021, while in recess, the Judge, the Respondent, and the Respondent's counsel had an ex parte communication before deciding to bring the Respondent as a witness after the appellant's witnesses made an irrefutable testimony validating the Will. The Respondent even called the Judge by his first name (Kenneth) while both exited the courtroom, proof that the judge has a personal connection to the Respondent since they are both residents of the same small town of Walhalla, South Carolina.

Furthermore, several minutes before the Motion for a new trial hearing on October 01, 2021, The Respondent's attorney, Richard Hunt McDuff, the Respondent, Jared Adam Pierce, and another lady in their company spent a considerable amount of time with the probate judge

in the judge's office before the three exited the office from the back door. The Appellant was not informed of the subject matter of the meeting nor invited to attend the meeting.

The trial Judge Intentionally discriminated against the Appellant based on race, color, and national origin. When the Appellant filed a motion for a new trial, neither the judge nor his clerks wanted to set up any date for the hearing of the motion for a new trial. The appellant politely asked the probate court on more than 3 different occasions to set a date, but the judge deliberately refused to set up a date claiming that the probate court did not have jurisdiction to hear the motion. It was until Judge Sprouse, the presiding judge on the Appellant's appeal hearing on the Oconee County Circuit Court Roster, advised that the pending motion in the probate court be ruled upon before Circuit Court could hear the appeal. Upon such determination, the Respondent informed the probate judge about Judge Sprouse's position, and the probate judge responded in less than two hours with possible dates for the motion hearing.

Additionally, weeks before the hearing of the appellant's motion for a new trial, the appellant asked the probate court about the PowerPoint presentation system and if the court had any to aid her presentation during the hearing, but the judge and his clerks denied the fact that they had a PowerPoint presentation system. To the surprise of the appellant, at the time of the hearing, the probate court had a boardroom with all PowerPoint systems in place, but they did not think the appellant was good enough to use the court's PowerPoint system. Surprisingly, the judge asked the appellant if she wanted to use PowerPoint at the time of the hearing of the appellant's motion to save face. The appellant had already printed her presentation on paper and did not prepare a PowerPoint presentation.

Subsequently, the appellant presented 9 grounds in her motion for a new trial but on

his ruling, the probate judge ruled on one and completely ignored the other 8 arguments. In his ruling, the judge wrote: *“After reviewing Rule 59, the case file and the arguments presented, I find the following: Both sides had ample time for discovery, to prepare their arguments, secure witnesses and expert testimony before the August 2, 2021 Hearing. A continuance before August 2, 2021, a Hearing could have been requested and granted for additional time to prepare. The Motion for a New Trial/Hearing is denied. Mr. McDuff, please draft an Order for Ms. Pierce’s review, and then my signature.*

Thank you, Kenneth E. Johns, Jr. . When the appellant reminded the judge that Rule 59 provides grounds for granting a new trial based on a significant error of the law and that Legal error and abuse of discretion were the basis of the appellant’s new trial motion. The appellant, therefore, asked the Judge to provide legal grounds for each of the arguments to preserve the record. The Judge was so unfair that he did not even respond to any of the Appellant’s emails asking for a legal explanation for his denial of the Appellant’s Motion. Besides, the said Judge signed an Order, which the Respondent drafted without the Appellant’s knowledge. Although it is not express sole object of this Appeal to have the Judge disciplined, Appellant avers that the Judge’s misconduct affected the validity of the Order issued by the Judge, which Order was issued without considering Appellant’s case, and without giving any reason of the denial to Appellant.

Both the Probate Judge and the Circuit Court Judge had Personal knowledge of the facts of the case and yet failed to recuse themselves from the case. Notably, even a judge who is not serving as the finder of fact (i.e., when the case is to be decided by a jury) cannot be fair and impartial if he or she has personal knowledge of disputed facts, because the judge's evidentiary rulings (in pleadings and motions made by the parties) may be influenced by that knowledge. This is especially true when the facts known by the judge are either not part of the

factual record of the case or conflict with the evidence presented in court. According to American Bar Association Rule 2.11: Disqualification. A judge shall disqualify himself or herself in any proceeding in which the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to the following circumstances: The judge has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party or a party's lawyer or personal knowledge* of facts that are in dispute in the proceeding. The law considers the partiality of a Judge in a case as a very sensitive matter. It follows; for example, a judge should disqualify himself in a proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to, instances where he has a personal bias or prejudice against a party. *Murphy v. Murphy*, ___ S.C. ___, 461 S.E.2d 39 (1995). In the instant case, the Appellant has several Email evidence detailing that the Respondent's attorney persistently emailed the judge about the forgery case he reported to Oconee Sheriff Department tainting the Appellant's reputation on false allegations and speculations. Even after the Sheriff's Department closed the investigations, exonerating the Appellant on several false reporting, the Respondent did not inform the judge that the cases were closed.

It is also worth noting that in the Emails, the Respondent was tainting the Appellant's name by informing the Judge how bad the Appellant is. For example, the Respondent **falsely** stated thus: "*She is having the utilities disconnected ... for nonpayment, and is in default under the payment terms of the lease on that property... We have employee witnesses to testify that she has not paid them wages and is pursuing action with the Department of Labor.*" In another communication, the Respondent wrote "*Judge John's, Sheriff Crenshaw has confirmed through the Department of Homeland Security that the PR, Dorothy Pierce, **has fled** the country and is in Uganda - not in Florida as she told her attorney.* In a similar Communication, the Respondent

wrote: *Judge Johns: At the request of Sheriff Crenshaw, SLED performed an examination of Mr. Pierce's last will date July 7, 2020. Upon examination, the SLED Questioned Documents Examiner, Jack Jamieson, determined that signature on the Will is not that of the Decedent. The SLED File Number is L21-897. Sheriff Crenshaw can be contacted to confirm, and Mr. Jamieson's direct phone number is.* Such communication sought to influence the Judge's decision to rule in favor of the Respondent, in violation of the Appellant's due process rights. For that reason, the Appellant contends that the contents of the email communications by the Respondent's attorney to the Judge corrupted the Judge's view of the case.

III. THE JUDGES' CONDUCT VIOLATED THE APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT.

"Procedural due process requires (1) adequate notice; (2) adequate opportunity to be heard; (3) the right to introduce evidence; and (4) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses." *Moore v. Moore*, 376 S.C. 467, 657 S.E.2d 743 (2008) (Emphasis added). See also *Clear Channel Outdoor v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 372 S.C. 230, 235, 642 S.E.2d 565, 567 (2007). The right to notice and reasons for the decision is also protected under due process.

"To prove a denial of substantive due process, a party must show that he was arbitrarily and capriciously deprived of a cognizable property interest footed in state law." *Sloan v. S.C. Bd. of Physical Therapy Examr's*, 370 S.C. 452, 483, 636 S.E.2d 598, 614 (2006); see *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 332, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976) (recognizing that before due process guarantees are implicated, there must be a deprivation by the government of constitutionally protected interest).

In the instant action, the Probate Judge failed to give reasons for the denial of the Appellant's Motion. Appellant is entitled, under the due process rights, to notice and reasons for the decision of the Court. Besides, the Appellant's due process rights guaranteed the Appellant's right to a fair and/or impartial hearing; and to have an opportunity to be heard. Therefore, the Appellant contends that the Judge ought to have provided the Appellant sufficient notice and/or reasons for the Court's decision. Instead, the Judge failed to respond to the Appellant's request(s) to provide the said decisions.

The circuit court Judge restricted the appellant's oral presentation during the appeal brief hearing to merely one question regarding the opinion of the appellant on why she was removed as the personal representative of the estate of Doyle E. Pierce. The Appellant was not allowed to present legal errors and judicial misconduct which were the core of the appellant's appeal.

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