RECEIVED

Feb 06 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Mattox, Jr., Circuit Judge

Case No. 2021-CP-37-00560
Appellate Case No. 2021-001552

Dorothy Pierce,

Appellant,

v.

Jared Adam Pierce,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

/s/ Richard Hunt McDuff
Richard Hunt McDuff, Esq.
SC Bar No. 76242
Merrell, Jahn & McDuff
(MJM Law, LLC)
119-B Professional Park Drive
Seneca, South Carolina 29678
Tel: (864) 882-2466
Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE ORDER DENYING THE APPELLANT’S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL WAS NEVER BEFORE THE CIRCUIT COURT ON APPEAL AND HAS NOT BEEN PRESERVED FOR REVIEW.

Appeals from an order of the Probate Court are governed by *S.C. Code Ann.* § 62-1-308(a). The statute requires that a Notice of Intent to Appeal to the Circuit Court must be filed in the office of the Circuit Court within ten (10) days after receipt of the contested order of the Probate Court. The failure to file a Notice of Intent to Appeal within ten days divests the Circuit Court of appellate jurisdiction. *In re Estate of Cretzmeyer*, 365 S.C. 12, 615 S.E. 2d 116 (2005) (appellant’s failure to comply with the procedural requirements for an appeal under *S.C. Code Ann.* § 62-1-308 divested the court of appellate jurisdiction when she failed to file her notice of appeal within ten days of receiving the probate court order in accordance with §62-1-308(a)).

In the present case, the only Notice of Intent to Appeal to the Circuit Court was to challenge the Order of August 18, 2021, invalidating the purported Last Will and Testament and removing her as Personal Representative. The Appellant never filed a Notice of Intent to Appeal the Order denying her Motion for New Trial. As a result, the judgment of the Circuit Court must be affirmed.

II. THE APPELLANT FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE TESTIMONY OF THE SLED QUESTIONED DOCUMENT EXAMINER PRIOR TO THE PROBATE COURT’S JUDGMENT.

It is axiomatic that a party cannot seek relief pursuant to Rule 59, SCRPC, on issues that the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not do so. *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 395 S.E. 2d 481 (1990). *See also Anonymous v. State Board of Medical Examiners*, 323 S.C. 260, 473 S.E. 2d 870, 880 (Ct. App. 1996) (matters not argued or ruled upon by the trial court are not preserved for review); *MailSource, LLC v. M.A. Bailey & Associates, Inc.*, 356 S.C. 370, 374, 588 S.E. 2d 639, 641 (Ct. App. 2003) (a party cannot raise an issue for the first time in a Rule

59 motion which could have been raised to the trial court but not ruled upon). It is equally true that issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, “but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E. 2d 731, 733 (1998).

At the trial of the matter in the Probate Court on August 2, 2021, the Appellant was represented by legal counsel licensed to practice in the State of South Carolina. At no time did her legal counsel object to the admissibility of the handwriting opinions of Mr. Jamieson, whether under *Daubert* or Rule 702, SCRE, or some other standard, at either the time of trial or before the entry of the August 18, 2021, judgment. In fact, the Appellant’s attorney, on the record, agreed that Mr. Jamieson was qualified to testify. (Amended R. p. 100, lines 5-13). In order to preserve an issue regarding the admissibility of evidence, a contemporaneous objection must be made. *Geddings v. Geddings*, 319 S.C. 213, 460 S.E.2d 376 (1995). The failure to object when the evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to have the issue considered on appeal. *McKissick v. J.F. Cleckley & Co.*, 479 S.E.2d 67, 325 S.C. 327 (Ct. App. 1996).

After the entry of the judgment of the Probate Court, when the Appellant filed her *pro se* Motion for New Trial and *pro se* Amended Motion for New Trial there was no issue raised as to the admissibility of the testimony of Mr. Jamieson concerning the authenticity of the signature of the Decedent on the purported Last Will and Testament. The first time the Appellant raised any issue as to the admissibility of the testimony of Mr. Jamieson was at the hearing conducted on October 1, 2021. The Appellant simply failed to preserve any appellate issue concerning the admissibility of the testimony of Mr. Jamieson.

III. THE APPELLANT SEEKS TO APPLY AN INCORRECT STANDARD OF ADMISSIBILITY REGARDING HANDWRITING ANALYSIS.

In her brief, the Appellant argues that the handwriting testimony of Mr. Jamieson was inadmissible under the standard set forth in *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993). Contrary to the Appellant's argument, "South Carolina has not adopted *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 594-95, 113 S.Ct. 2786, 125 L.Ed.2d 469 (1993), by name, nor has it revised Rule 702, SCRE, to incorporate the *Daubert* framework." *State v. Warner*, 430 S.C. 76, 86, 842 S.E. 2d 361, 365-66 (Ct. App. 2020); *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E. 2d 508 (1999). The standard for determining whether scientific evidence is admissible is governed by the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. *Id.*, 335 S.C. at 20.

Pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE, the testimony of an expert admissible "[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." If the expert opinion or testimony is challenged, the trial court should apply the factors set forth in *State v. Jones*, 273 S.C. 723, 259 S.E. 2d 120 (1979). The admissibility of the testimony handwriting experts as to the validity of a signature on a questioned document has been tacitly recognized by the courts in this State. *See, e.g., State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 713 S.E. 2d 591 (2011), *Brandt v. Gooding*, 368 S.C. 618, 630 S.E. 2d 259 (2006), and *State v. Babb*, 299 S.C. 451, 385 S.E. 2d 827 (1989).

The Appellant's argument is also rendered moot as a result of her failure object to the admissibility of the testimony of Mr. Jamieson at the time of trial. Her failure to make any contemporaneous objection to admissibility at the time of trial is fatal.

IV. THERE WAS NO JUDICIAL MISCONDUCT.

The Appellant next claims there was “judicial misconduct” requiring reversal of the Probate Court.⁷ As grounds for her argument, the Appellant asserts (a) the Probate Judge had improper *ex parte* communications with the Respondent and his undersigned legal counsel on August 2, 2021 and October 1, 2021, (b) the Probate Judge “intentionally discriminated against [her] based on race, color and national origin” because he did not provide her with the means to make a “Power Point” presentation at the time of the hearing on the Motion for New Trial, (c) he did not issue an order addressing all of her arguments raised in the Amended Motion for New Trial, and (d) the Probate Judge should have recused himself because he had “personal knowledge of the facts of the case.”

There is nothing found in the transcripts of the proceedings that remotely supports the Appellant’s position. If her claim that an *ex parte* communication between the Probate Judge and the Respondent did occur on August 2, 2021, there would certainly have been an issue raised by her legal counsel, Mr. Sires. The record is devoid of evidence of any such occurrence or objection by her legal counsel. Likewise, if *ex parte* communication occurred between the Probate Judge and the Respondent immediately preceding the October 1, 2021, hearing on the Motion for New Trial, the Appellant would have certainly raised objection to it while on the record. She did not do so. In making her “whole cloth” claims, the Appellant seeks to place *onus probandi* on the Respondent, a concept that runs contrary to the Rules of Evidence. See *Latimer v. Latimer*, 22 S.C. 257 (1885).

In the same vein, there is no evidence that the Probate Judge was biased against her because of her race, color or national origin, or because of his “personal knowledge of the facts of the case.”

⁷ As stated, *supra*, the Appellant is solely appealing the denial of her Motion for New Trial.

Her arguments that the Probate Judge unlawfully discriminated against her or had “prejudged” the matter are false and wholly unsupported. It would be obvious to state that a judge will have personal knowledge of the facts of matter that is heard by him or her. To say the least, there has been an evolution in the Appellant’s “fish tale.”

Even if the Appellant’s spurious claims were true, a reading of transcript from the August 2, 2021, trial reveals that there was ample evidence adduced to support the Probate Court’s invalidation of the purported Last Will and Testament and removal of the Appellant as Personal Representative. When there is evidence in the record to support the findings of a trial judge, there is no evidence of judicial prejudice. *See C.A.H. v. L.H.*, 315 S.C. 389, 434 S.E. 2d 268 (1993) (no evidence of judicial prejudice arising from alleged *ex parte* communication with assistant solicitor when there was ample evidence to support the judge’s findings), and *Burgess v. Stern*, 311 S.C. 326, 428 S.E. 2d 880 (1993).

V. THE APPELLANT’S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED.

The Appellant next argues she was denied procedural due process because (a) the Probate Court did not provide her with a detailed, reasoned ruling when it denied her Motion for New Trial, and (b) the Probate Judge “impeached Appellant’s witnesses by association without factual grounds.”⁸

As a threshold matter, there is nothing in the law in these circumstances that requires a court to provide a reasoned decision on any point raised by the moving party when denying a motion for new trial. While, the Appellant correctly articulates the requirements of procedural due process restated in *Moore v. Moore*, 376 S.C. 467, 657 S.E. 2d 743 (2008), the record demonstrates that she was represented by legal counsel, she was given adequate notice of the August 2, 2021,

⁸ The Appellant also makes reference to substantive due process; however, her argument seems to be one involving procedural due process.

trial, she was given the right to call witnesses and introduce evidence, and she was given the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses.

The gravamen of the Appellant's argument is that the Probate Judge found the witnesses called by her at the trial concerning the execution of the purported Will to not be credible. As the trier of fact, the Probate Judge was charged with making factual determinations and weighing the credibility of each witness. *State v. Dorce*, 320 S.C. 480, 483, 465 S.E. 2d 772, 773 (Ct. App. 1995). After listening to their testimony and observing their demeanor, the judge chose to find the purported eyewitnesses to not be credible. On the other hand, the judge found the testimony of Mr. Jamieson to be credible. The Appellant cannot now require this Court to reweigh the evidence presented at the time of trial.

The Appellant's also adverts to Judge Maddox not allowing her to present "legal errors and judicial misconduct" at the time of the hearing on November 3, 2021, thereby demonstrating his bias and requiring his recusal. A reading of the transcript of the November 3, 2021, hearing shows that Judge Maddox found the Appellant was not lawfully authorized to argue an appeal on behalf the Decedent's estate based upon the clear holding in *Brown v. Coe*, 365 S.C. 137, 616 S.E. 2d 705 (2005), because she is not licensed to practice law in the State of South Carolina. (Amended R. pp. 255-256). Judge Maddox limited the Appellant to presenting an argument as to why she was improperly removed as Personal Representative. (Amended R. pp. 256). Nonetheless, the record of the proceeding demonstrates that the Appellant was given free rein to articulate every one of her claims of alleged error and misconduct. (Amended R. pp. 258-268).

IV. THE PROBATE COURT PROPERLY REMOVED THE APPELLANT AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE.

The Appellant erroneously argues that the Probate Court improperly removed her as personal representative upon finding her “guilty of the crime of forgery without factual evidence and due process of law.” The Appellant was never found guilty by this Court of the crime of forgery. *S.C. Code Ann.* § 62-3-611(b) provides that the Probate Court may remove a Personal Representative for cause “when removal would be in the best interests of the estate, or if it is shown that a personal representative or the person seeking his appointment intentionally misrepresented material facts in the proceedings leading to his appointment.”

The rule is that “one found in possession of a forged instrument of which he purports to be a beneficiary, and applying it to his own use, must, in the absence of explanation satisfactory to [the trier of fact], be presumed to have forged it or to have been privy to its forgery.” *State v. Orr*, 225 S.C. 369, 374, 82 S.E. 2d 523, 526 (1954). Given the fact that the Appellant possessed the forged Last Will and Testament, presented it to the Court, and that she and her minor children in Uganda would benefit under it, an inference arises that she has knowledge that the Will is a forgery. *State v. Brandt*, *supra*. The Probate Court found that the Appellant failed to provide a satisfactory explanation as to how she came into possession of the forged Last Will and Testament.

Based upon the facts established at trial, the Probate Court properly exercised its lawful authority in removing the Appellant because (a) it is in the best interests of the estate, and (b) the Appellant intentionally misrepresented material facts leading to her appointment, *i.e.*, that the purported Last Will and Testament had been validly executed by the Decedent when it had not. Furthermore, the Appellant failed to preserve this issue for review because she has not appealed the August 18, 2021.

VII. THE PROBATE JUDGE WAS QUALIFIED TO RENDER THE RULINGS.

As a final argument, the Appellant asserts that the Probate Judge was unqualified to render the rulings because his is a non-lawyer. Judge Johns met the requirements of *S.C. Code Ann.* § 14-23-1040, was duly elected, and lawfully took the position of Probate Court Judge for Oconee County, South Carolina. Nothing in the statute requires that a Probate Judge be licensed as an attorney. If the Appellant did not believe that the Probate Judge had the requisite qualifications to preside over a trial involving forgery, the validity of a Will, and the removal of the Personal Representative, she could have removed the matter to the Circuit Court pursuant to *S.C. Code Ann.* § 62-1-302(d). She did not do so and cannot now claim reversible error on this basis.

CONCLUSION

The Respondent, Jared Adam Pierce, respectfully requests that the December 29, 2021, Order of the Court of Common Pleas be affirmed for the reasons set forth above. The Appellant seeks reversal of the Order denying her Motion for New Trial, but she failed to perfect an appeal of that Order by filing a Notice of Appeal within ten (10) days after receipt of the Order.

In addition, the record demonstrates that the Appellant failed to raise any objection to the testimony of SLED Questioned Document Examiner John Jamieson at the time of the trial in the Probate Court. The record also demonstrates that the Appellant created an ever-growing tale out of whole cloth to support her spurious claims of judicial misconduct and the violation of due process. A reading of the record and controlling cases requires the Orders of the Probate Court and the Court of Common Pleas to be upheld.